
 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: March 21, 2019 

TIME: 6:30 p.m. 

PLACE: 2nd Floor Committee Room 
 Lenawee County Courthouse 
 Adrian, Michigan 

MEETING AGENDA 

 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

2. Public Comment [3-MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of Agenda [ACTION] 

4. Meeting Minutes 

Approval of the Minutes of the February 21, 2019, 2019, Meeting [ACTION]  ...................................  3 

5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s) 

(1) #19-02 — Riga Township [ACTION]  ...............................................................................  5 

b. Consideration of PA 116 Farmland Agreement(s) 

(1) #19-05 — Median Township [ACTION]  ........................................................................  21 

(2) #19-06 — Ogden Township [ACTION]  ..........................................................................  41 

(3) #19-07 — Ridgeway Township [ACTION]  .....................................................................  55 

(4) #19-08 — Ridgeway Township [ACTION]  .....................................................................  67 

(5) #19-09 — Ridgeway Township [ACTION]  .....................................................................  81 

(6) #19-10 — Ridgeway Township [ACTION]  .....................................................................  95 

(7) #19-11 — Ridgeway Township [ACTION]  ...................................................................  107 

c. Consideration of Master Plan(s) — None 

6. Other Business 

a. Old Business 

(1) 2019 LCPC Annual Dinner [DISCUSSION] 

b. New Business — None 

7. Public Comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner Comment 

9. Adjournment 

 

mailto:gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us


This page is intentionally blank. 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

MEETING MINUTES 
Thursday, February 21, 2019 

Old Lenawee County Courthouse ● 2nd Floor Commission Chambers ● Adrian, Michigan 

 Members Present: Ms. Karol (KZ) Bolton, Lenawee County Commission, Ms. Rebecca Liedel, LCPC 
Chair; Mr. Ralph Tillotson, Lenawee County Commission; and Mr. Dale Witt 

 Members Absent: Mr. Bob Behnke, Education Representative; Mr. Keith Dersham, LCPC Secre-
tary; and Mr. Bruce Nickel 

 Others Present: Mr. Grant Bauman, LCPC Staff/Recording Secretary. 

The meeting was delayed in order to obtain a quorum. Those Commissioners in attendance discussed the 
2019 LCPC Annual Dinner prior to the official start of the meeting. The venue selected for the event was 
the University Center Conference Room at Siena Heights University with a catered meal by Chartwells. 
The preferred menu was ‘Taste of the South’. Brett Hanlon, Michigan Economic Development Corpora-
tion (MEDC), was selected as the preferred speaker. His topic would be the MEDC’s Redevelopment 
Ready Communities (RRC) Program. The alternate speaker selected was Tim Robinson, Lenawee Now. 

Item 1 Call to order. The meeting was called to order at 7:05 p.m. by Chair Liedel. Those in attend-
ance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2 Public comment. — None. 

Item 3 Approval of Agenda. Staff submitted the 02/21/19 meeting agenda for approval, requesting 
the addition of a PA 116 application in Blissfield Township as Item #5.b.(3). 

A motion was made by Comm. Tillotson, and seconded by Comm. Bolton, to approve the Feb-
ruary 21, 2019, meeting agenda as amended. The motion passed unanimously. 

Item 4 Approval of Minutes. Staff submitted the 1/17/19 meeting minutes for approval. 

A motion was made by Comm. Bolton, and seconded by Comm. Tillotson, to approve the Janu-
ary 17, 2019, meeting minutes as presented. The motion passed unanimously. 

Item 5 Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s). — None. 

b. Consideration of PA 116 Farmland Agreement(s). 

(1) #19-02 | Fairfield Township. Commissioners reviewed a proposed agreement for 
a property located on Arnold Highway in Section 1 (T9S,R3E) of Fairfield Township, 
noting errors/omissions regarding questions #8, #15, #16, #17, and #18 on the appli-
cation (see the staff report). 

A motion was made by Comm. Tillotson, and seconded by Comm. Bolton, to recom-
mend approval with comments as advised by staff (see the staff report). The motion 
passed unanimously. 



 
Lenawee County Planning Commission 
February 21, 2019, Meeting Minutes Page 2  
 

(2) #19-03 | Fairfield Township. Commissioners reviewed a proposed agreement for 
a property located on Arnold Highway in Section 26 (T8S,R3E) of Fairfield Township, 
noting errors/omissions regarding questions #8, #15, #17 and #18 on the application 
(see the staff report). 

A motion was made by Comm. Tillotson, and seconded by Comm. Witt, to recom-
mend approval with comments, provided that the gross annual income per acre is 
≥$200.00, as advised by staff (see the staff report). The motion passed unanimously. 

(3) #19-04 | Blissfield Township. Commissioners reviewed a proposed agreement for 
a property located on Blissfield Highway in Section 6 (T7S,R5E) of Blissfield Township, 
noting that there were no errors/omissions. 

A motion was made by Comm. Bolton, and seconded by Comm. Witt, to recommend 
approval as advised by staff (see the staff report). The motion passed unanimously. 

c. Consideration of Master Plan(s). — None. 

Item 6 Other Business 

a. Old Business. — None. 

b. New Business 

(1) 2018 LCPC Annual Report. Staff summarized the Commission’s annual report pre-
pared for 2018 and requested its approval so that it can be forwarded to the County 
Board of Commissioners. Comm. Liedel requested a spelling correction regarding her 
name in Item #1 and staff clarified that the title of Item #2 should read ‘2018 LCPC 
Accomplishments’. 

A motion was made by Comm. Bolton, and seconded by Comm. Witt, to approve the 
2018 LCPC Annual Report as corrected. The motion passed unanimously. 

Item 7 Public Comment — None. 

Item 8 Commissioner Comment — Comm. Bolton informed the Commission that the next Le-
nawee County Legislative Dinner will be held on May 29th or May 30th. 

Item 9 Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned at 7:30 pm. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Grant E. Bauman, Recording Secretary 
 
 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #19-02 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: March 21, 2018 

 Proposal: Text Amendments Regarding ‘Solar Energy Facilities’ to the Riga Township Zon-
ing Ordinance 

The Riga Township Planning Commission developed a series of text amendments which would regulate 
‘Solar Energy Facilities’. The amendments can be described as follows: 

 The addition of regulations regarding ‘Solar Energy Facilities’ as Sec. 7.27. 

 The addition of ‘Solar Energy Facilities’ to the listing of uses requiring ‘Site Plan Review and Ap-
proval’ as Sec. 7.24.3.b.1.w (see Page 8 of the report). 

 The addition of ‘Solar Energy Facilities’ to the listing of conditional uses in the Agricultural Dis-
trict as Sec. 10.03.22. 

 The addition of ‘Solar Energy Facilities’ to the listing of conditional uses in the Industrial District 
as Sec. 13.03.15. 

 The addition of definitions regarding ‘Solar Energy Facilities’ to Sec. 16.01  

Analysis and Recommendation 

CZC Staff Analysis – It appears that a public hearing on the proposed ordinance took place on Septem-
ber 4, 2018. A substantial amount of time has occurred since that hearing and staff assumes that 
changes have been made to the draft ordinance since that time. Consideration should be given to hold-
ing a new public hearing before the township planning commission. Staff made various comments to the 
amendment and advises the inclusion of the Light Industrial (LI) District (see below). Staff comments/ 
suggested changes are located on the right-hand side of the amendment. Advised amendments are dis-
played in red. 

RIGA TOWNSHIP 

LENAWEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-_____ 

An ordinance to amend Article VII of the Riga Township Zoning Ordinance by adding a 

Section 7.27 regarding solar energy facilities within the Township; adding large solar en-

ergy facilities (Solar Farms) to the listings of conditional uses in the Agricultural (AG) and 

Industrial (I) Districts; and the replacement, deletion, and addition of associated defini-

tions to Article XVI. 

The Township of Riga ordains: 

Section 1. Amendment to Article VII 

Article VII of the Riga Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by adding a Section 7.27 entitled Solar 

Energy Facilities, as follows: 

Commented [GB31]: Example. 



Page 2 CZ #19-02 
 

Section 7.27.  SOLAR ENERGY FACILITIES.  Sunlight is utilized to generate energy through a 

facility consisting of one (1) or more solar devices under common ownership or operational con-

trol. Such a facility may include, but not be limited to, substations, cables/wires and other build-

ings and accessory structures whose main purpose is to supply energy on-site or to off-site cus-

tomer(s): 

1. LARGE SOLAR ENERGY FACILITY (SOLAR FARM).  The purpose of this Subsec-

tion is to establish minimum requirements and regulations for the placement, construction 

and modification of large solar energy facilities (Solar Farms), as defined in Article XVI, 

while promoting the safe, effective, and efficient use of such energy facilities as a condi-

tional use in specified zoning districts. 

a. Location. All large solar energy facilities (Solar Farms) are limited to the Agri-

cultural (AG), Industrial (I) and Light Industrial (LI) districts. 

b. REGULATIONS AND DESIGN STANDARDS. All large solar energy facilities 

(Solar Farms) shall comply with the following minimum regulations and design 

standards. 

1. DESIGN STANDARDS. 

a. MINIMUM LOT SIZE. No large solar energy facility (Solar 

Farm) shall be erected on any Lot less than twenty (20) acres in 

size.  

 MAXIMUM LOT COVERAGE: Large solar energy facilities 

shall comply with the underlying zoning district’s maximum lot 

coverage requirements. However, PV solar panels shall be ex-

cluded from this calculation. 

b. MAXIMUM HEIGHT. The maximum height for a solar panel 

shall be fourteen (14) feet. The maximum height of a Power 

Switchyard (as defined in Article XVI) shall not exceed the min-

imum height needed to tie into electric transmission lines. The 

height of all other buildings and accessory structures shall com-

ply with the maximum building height requirements of the appli-

cable zoning district in which the Solar Farm is located. The 

height of required lightning rods attached to the Power 

Switchyard or Solar Farm related equipment shall not be subject 

to the foregoing height limitations. The height of lightning rods 

shall be limited to that height necessary to protect the Power 

Switchyard and Solar Farm equipment from lightning. 

c. SETBACKS. Large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) solar ar-

rays and other structures shall be set back thirty feet (30) from all 

lot lines and public road rights-of-way, or the district setbacks 

stated in the underlying zoning district, whichever is greater. In 

addition, large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) solar arrays and 

other structures must be located at least one hundred (100) feet 

from all existing RA Residential, NS Neighborhood Service 

Commercial or MH Mobile Home Park district land and existing 

residences at the time the Solar Farm is granted conditional use 

approval, unless the lot is comprised of a portion of the lot con-

taining the residence. In addition, large solar energy facility (So-

lar Farm) solar arrays and other structures shall not be located 

Commented [GB32]: According to this, Solar Farms should also 
be added to the listing of conditional uses in the LI District (as Sec. 
13A.03.5) 

Commented [GB33]: These panels are simply referred to as 
‘solar arrays’ in other subsections. A single term should be chosen 
and used throughout the section for the sake of conformity. 

Commented [GB34]: The need to adhere to Sec. 7.13 (Essential 
Services) should also be listed. For example, Sec. 7.13.1 requires a 
200-ft. setback from the nearest road for electric utility towers 
which support main feeder lines. 

Commented [GB35]: Was the General Commercial/Business 
(GC) district also considered?  



Page 3 CZ #19-02 
 

within a fifty foot (50’) drain easement. When a large solar en-

ergy facility (Solar Farm) comprises of lots of more than one 

owner, the internal setback shall not apply.  

d. SAFETY/ACCESS. 

1. Security fencing shall be installed around all electrical 

equipment related to the Solar Farm including, but not 

limited to, transformers and transfer stations.  

2. Appropriate warning signage shall be placed at safe in-

tervals at the entrance and perimeter of the large solar 

energy facility (Solar Farm). 

3. A safety plan shall be in place and updated regularly 

with the fire department having jurisdiction over the So-

lar Farm. 

e. NOISE. No operating large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) 

shall produce noise that exceeds any of the following limitations. 

1. Forty-five (45) dBA, as measured at the property line of 

any adjacent RA Residential, NS Neighborhood Service 

Commercial or MH Mobile Home Park zoned land in 

existence at the time the Solar Farm is granted condi-

tional use approval. 

2. Forty (40) dBA, as measured at any neighboring resi-

dence in existence at the time the Solar Farm is granted 

conditional use approval, between the hours of nine (9) 

p.m. and seven (7) a.m. 

3. Forty-five (45) dBA, as measured at the lot lines of the 

project boundary. 

f. VISUAL APPEARANCE & MAINTENANCE 

1. Large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) buildings and 

accessory structures shall utilize materials, textures, and 

neutral colors customary with Solar Farms and that to 

the extent which is prudent and feasible will blend the 

facility into the existing environment.  

2. Supports shall be constructed to preserve the drainage 

field tile and/or drainage system. Any broken/missing 

field tiles shall be repaired and made in operable condi-

tion as soon as possible after damage and/or failure. 

3. An appropriate maintenance plan, including property 

maintenance of the grounds, shall be presented to the 

Planning Commission for review and approval.  

4. Lighting of the large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) 

shall be limited to the minimum necessary, supplied with 

down lighting, and in no case shall any illumination 

from such lighting extend beyond the perimeter of the 

Solar Farm. A photometric study shall be used to make 

this determination. 

5. No large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) shall produce 

glare that would constitute a nuisance to occupants of 

Commented [GB36]: Was the General Commercial/Business 
(GC) district also considered? 

Commented [GB37]: This requirement may not always apply. 
Consideration should be given to replacing ‘the’ with ‘any existing’. 

Commented [GB38]: The use of ‘shall’ means that a photomet-
ric study is always required. There may be cases where this require-
ment in not needed. Consideration should be given to replacing 
‘shall’ with ‘may’. 



Page 4 CZ #19-02 
 

neighboring properties or to persons traveling neighbor-

ing roads. Upon written notice from the Township 

Building Inspector, or such other person designated by 

the Township Board, to the owners of the Solar Farm 

that glare from the Solar Farm is causing a nuisance to 

occupants of neighboring property or to persons travel-

ing neighboring roads, the owner of the Solar Farm shall 

have a reasonable time (not to exceed twelve (12) 

months) from the date of such notice to remediate such 

glare. 

g. MEDIUM VOLTAGE CABLE. All medium voltage cable (as 

defined in Article XVI) within the project boundary shall be in-

stalled underground at a depth in accordance with current Na-

tional Electrical Code standards and except for Power 

Switchyards (as defined in Article XVI) or area within a substa-

tion. All electrical interconnections and distribution components 

must comply with all applicable codes and public utility require-

ments. 

2. LOCAL, STATE AND FEDERAL PERMITS. A large solar energy fa-

cility (Solar Farm) shall be required to obtain all necessary permits from 

the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality and any applicable 

municipal/county or Federal permits. 

3. AGREEMENTS/EASEMENTS. If the Lot on which the project is pro-

posed is to be leased, rather than owned, by the owner of the Solar Farm, 

all property within the project boundary must be included in a recorded 

easement(s), lease(s), or consent agreement(s) specifying the applicable 

uses for the duration of the project. All necessary leases, easements, or 

other agreements between the owner of the Solar Farm and property 

owners must be in place prior to commencing construction, unless speci-

fied otherwise by the conditional use permit. 

c. PERMIT APPLICATIONS. An application for a conditional use permit to estab-

lish a large solar energy facility (Solar Farm) shall include a complete description 

of the project and documentation to sufficiently demonstrate that the require-

ments set forth in this Ordinance will be met. Supporting documentation for ad-

dressing the review criteria (required standards and findings for making a condi-

tional use determination) is also to be provided. The Planning Commission 

and/or Township Board may require any information reasonably necessary to de-

termine compliance with this ordinance. 

It is preferred that any related conditional use permit applications for substations 

or new transmission lines be considered in conjunction with the conditional use 

permit application for the large solar energy facility (Solar Farm); however, if the 

details of those improvements are not available at the time of application for the 

large solar energy facility (Solar Farm), they may be considered later, through 

subsequent conditional use permit review. At a minimum, the intended route for 

connecting to the power grid and the alternative locations of any substation shall 

be disclosed with the application for the large solar energy facility (Solar Farm). 

Prior to issuance of the construction permit, the Township shall require as a con-

dition of approval that the owner of the Solar Farm and Township enter into a 

decommissioning agreement setting forth a Decommissioning Plan, secured by a 

Commented [GB39]: Consideration should be given to replac-
ing ‘area’ with ‘the area’ for grammatical reasons. 

Commented [GB310]: Sec. 7.13 (Essential Services) applies to 
this requirement. Consideration should be given to rewording this 
section to include a reference to Sec. 7.13. 

Commented [GB311]: Consideration should be given to refer-
encing Sec. 7.27.1.c.7 (Decommissioning Plan). 



Page 5 CZ #19-02 
 

bond to secure removal of the Solar Farm in the event the use is terminated and 

abandoned for a period of twelve (12) months. The amount of the bond shall be 

determined based upon the reasonable cost of land reclamation to seasonal 

grasses or to an agricultural ready condition, removal, and the salvage value of 

the Solar Farm. 

d. PROVISIONS FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REVIEW. In addition to 

the standards set forth for conditional use approval in Section 7.21, the Solar 

Farm shall comply with the following standards: 

1. SOLAR FARM DESCRIPTION. The application for the Solar Farm 

shall identify the Solar Farm buildings and accessory structures, the time 

period to construct the Solar Farm, the phasing of construction, if any, 

and the anticipated useful life of the Solar Farm. 

2. ENVIRONMENTAL SITING CONSIDERATIONS. The applicant shall 

provide evidence of compliance with applicable State of Michigan stat-

utes including, but not limited to: Part 31, Water Resources Protection, of 

the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act; (MCL 

324.3101 et. seq.; Part 91, Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control (MCL 

324.9101 et. seq.) and any corresponding County ordinances; Part 301, 

Inland Lakes and Streams, (MCL 324.30101 et. seq.); Part 303, Wetlands 

(MCL 324.30301 et. seq.); Part 365, Endangered Species Protection 

(MCL324.36501 et. seq.); and such other applicable laws and rules in 

force at the time the application is considered by the Township Board. 

3. SITE PLANS. Site plans shall conform with Section 7.24 and shall iden-

tify (1) all Lots in the Solar Farm, and as to each Zoning Lot, existing 

and proposed (a) buildings, (b) accessory structures, (c) utilities, (d) 

transmission lines, (e) solar panels, (f) drainage ways, (g) grades, (h) 

topographical conditions, (i) vegetation, (j) regulated wetlands, (k) regu-

lated floodplains, (l) regulated and endangered species, and (m) regulated 

lakes, streams or ponds; (2) required setbacks; (3) access routes to Zon-

ing Lots that are a part of the Solar Farm; (4) proposed road and drive-

way improvements; (5) any lots within three hundred (300) feet of a 

large solar energy facility (Solar Farm); (6) proposed transmission lines 

to and from Power Switchyards and/or between Zoning Lots; (7) pro-

posed signage; and (8) methods for dust and erosion control. All maps 

and visual representations need to be drawn at an appropriate scale and in 

accordance with Section 7.24 (required data for detailed site plan). 

4. ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION. The Applicant shall provide evi-

dence of compliance with the Environmental Siting Conditions as re-

quired in this Section. 

5. HAZARDOUS WASTE. As applicable, the application must include 

plans for the spill prevention, clean-up, and disposal of fuels, oils, and 

hazardous wastes. 

6. TRANSPORTATION PLAN FOR CONSTRUCTION AND OPERA-

TION PHASES. Proof of an agreement with the County Road Commis-

sion, and the Michigan Department of Transportation (if applicable) re-

garding any construction phase of the project, is required. 

7. DECOMMISSIONING PLAN. Describe the decommissioning and final 

land reclamation plan to be followed after the anticipated useful life, or 

Commented [GB312]: ‘Zoning Lot’ was a term utilized in the 
model ordinance. Since this was not utilized by the Township, the 
reference should simply be to a ‘Lot’. 

Commented [GB313]: Consideration should be given to replac-
ing the reference with ‘Site Plan Review and Approval’, the title of 
the section. 

Commented [GB314]: Consideration should be given to replac-
ing the reference with ‘Environmental Siting Considerations’, the ti-
tle of the subsection. 



Page 6 CZ #19-02 
 

abandonment, or termination of the large solar energy facility (Solar 

Farm), including evidence of proposed commitments with property own-

ers to ensure proper final reclamation of the Solar Farm with seasonal 

grasses or to an agricultural ready condition, repairs to roads for damage 

caused by the Solar Farm, if any, and within twelve (12) months from the 

notice of abandonment issued by the Township to complete decommis-

sioning and land reclamation. 

2. SMALL SOLAR ENERGY FACILITY.  Notwithstanding other provisions of this Sec-

tion of the Ordinance, Small Roof-Mounted or Ground-Mounted Solar Energy Facilities 

shall be considered a permitted use in all zoning districts as an accessory to a principal 

use. A Small Solar Energy Facility (as defined in Article XVI) shall be required to have 

appropriate building permits. 

a. All Small Solar Energy Facilities are subject to the following minimum require-

ments: 

1. A small solar energy facility shall provide power for the principal use 

and/or accessory use of the property on which the small solar energy fa-

cility is located and shall not be used for the generation of power for the 

sale of energy to other users, although this provision shall not be inter-

preted to prohibit the sale of excess power generated from time to time to 

the local utility company. 

2. A small solar energy facility connected to the utility grid shall provide 

written authorization from the local utility company to Riga Township 

acknowledging and approving such connection. 

3. A roof-mounted facility may be mounted on a principal building or ac-

cessory building. A roof-mounted facility, whether mounted on the prin-

cipal building or accessory building, may not exceed the maximum prin-

cipal building height or accessory building height specified for the build-

ing type in the underlying zoning district. In no instance shall any part of 

the small solar energy facility extend beyond the edge of the roof. 

4. A ground-mounted facility shall not exceed a height of fourteen (14) feet. 

5. The surface area of a ground-mounted facility, regardless of the mounted 

angle, shall be calculated as part of the overall lot coverage. 

6. A ground-mounted facility or facility attached to an accessory building 

shall not be located within the required front yard setback. 

7. The minimum ground-mounted small solar energy facility setback dis-

tance from the property lines shall be equivalent to the principal building 

setback of the underlying zoning district. 

8. All mechanical equipment associated with and necessary for the opera-

tion of the small solar energy facility shall comply with the following: 

a. Mechanical equipment shall be screened from any adjacent prop-

erty that is residentially zoned or used for residential purposes. 

The screen shall consist of shrubbery, trees, or other non-inva-

sive plant species which provides a visual screen. At least fifty 

percent (50%) of plants must be evergreen. In lieu of a planting 

screen, a decorative fence that is at least fifty percent (50%) 

opaque may be used. 

b. Mechanical equipment shall not be located within the minimum 



Page 7 CZ #19-02 
 

front yard setback of the underlying zoning district. 

c. Mechanical equipment for ground-mounted facilities shall com-

ply with the setbacks specified for principal structures in the un-

derlying zoning district. 

9. Solar panels shall be placed such that concentrated solar radiation or 

glare shall not be directed onto nearby properties or roadways. 

10. All power transmission lines from a ground-mounted small solar energy 

facility to any building or other structure shall be located underground. 

11. A small solar energy facility shall not be used to display advertising, in-

cluding signage, streamers, pennants, spinners, reflectors, ribbons, tinsel, 

balloons, flags, banners or similar materials. The manufacturers and 

equipment information, warning, or indication of ownership shall be al-

lowed on any equipment of the solar energy facility provided they com-

ply with the prevailing sign regulations. 

12. The design of the small solar energy facility shall conform to applicable 

industry standards. A building/zoning permit shall be obtained prior to 

construction.  In the case of a roof-mounted facility, the existing roof 

structure and the weight of the facility shall be taken into consideration 

when applying for a small solar energy facility permit. 

All wiring shall comply with the applicable version of Michigan’s con-

struction codes. The local utility provider shall be contacted to determine 

grid interconnection and net metering policies.  The Applicant shall sub-

mit certificates of design compliance obtained by the equipment manu-

facturer from a certifying organization. 

13. The small solar energy facility shall comply with all applicable Town-

ship ordinances and codes so as to ensure the structural integrity of such 

facility. 

14. Before any construction can commence on any small solar energy facil-

ity, the property owner must acknowledge in writing that he/she is the 

responsible party for owning/leasing and maintaining the solar energy 

facility. 

b. If a ground-mounted small solar energy facility is removed, any earth disturbance 

as a result of the removal of the ground-mounted facility shall be graded and re-

seeded. 

c. If a small solar energy facility has been abandoned (meaning not having been in 

operation for a period of six (6) months) or is defective or is deemed to be unsafe 

by the Building Inspector, the facility shall be required to be repaired by the 

owner to meet federal, state and local safety standards, or be removed by the 

property owner within the time period allowed by the Building Inspector. If the 

owner fails to remove or repair the defective or abandoned small solar energy fa-

cility, the Township may pursue legal action to have the facility removed at the 

owner’s expense. 

3. SOLAR ACCESS.  The Township makes no assurance of solar access other than the pro-

visions contained within this Section. The Applicant may provide evidence of covenants, 

easements, or similar documentation for abutting property owners providing access to 

solar energy for the operation of a solar energy facility. 

 



Page 8 CZ #19-02 
 
Article VII is also amended to add Large Solar Energy Facilities (Solar Farms), subject to regulations 

contained in Section 7.27 to the list of conditional uses requiring site plan review and approval: 

SECTION 7.24. SITE PLAN REVIEW AND APPROVAL 

 …. 

 3. 

 …. 

b. Site plans submitted for the following uses shall be subject to the requirements 

of subsection 7.24 (3)(c). 

 1. The following conditional uses: 

  … 

  w. Large Solar Energy Facilities (Solar Farms), subject to regulations 

contained in Section 7.27. 

Section 2. Amendment to Article X 

Article X of the Riga Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by adding large solar energy facilities (So-

lar Farms) to the listing of Conditional Uses (Section 10.03) in the Agricultural District, as follows: 

Section 10.03.  CONDITIONAL USES.  The following buildings and structures, and uses of par-

cels, lots, buildings, and structures are permitted in this district subject to obtaining a conditional 

use permit as provided in Section 7.21 .  

22. Large Solar Energy Facilities (Solar Farms), subject to regulations contained in Section 

7.27. 

Section 3. Amendment to Article XIII 

Article XIII of the Riga Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by adding large solar energy facilities 

(Solar Farms) to the listing of Conditional Uses (Section 13.03) in the Industrial District, as follows: 

Section 13.03.  CONDITIONAL USES.  The following buildings and structures, and uses of par-

cels, lots, buildings and structures are permitted subject to obtaining a conditional use permit as 

provided in Section 7.21. 

. . . 

15. Large Solar Energy Facilities (Solar Farms), subject to regulations contained in Section 

7.27. 

Section 4. Amendment to Article XIII-A 

Article XIII-A of the Riga Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by adding large solar energy facilities 

(Solar Farms) to the listing of Conditional Uses (Section 13A.03) in the Industrial District, as follows: 

Section 13A.03.  CONDITIONAL USES.  The following buildings and structures, and uses of 

parcels, lots, buildings and structures are permitted subject to obtaining a conditional use permit 

as provided in Section 7.21: 

. . . 

5. Large Solar Energy Facilities (Solar Farms), subject to regulations contained in Section 

7.27. 

Section 45. Amendment to Article XVI 

Article XVI of the Riga Township Zoning Ordinance is amended to add definitions related to Solar En-

ergy Facilities to be read as follows: 

SOLAR ENERGY FACILITY:  An energy generating facility consisting of one or more solar 

panels and associated equipment including, but not limited to: 

a. LARGE SOLAR ENERGY FACILITY (SOLAR FARM). A utility-scale commercial 

Commented [GB315]: Given that the Light Industrial (LI) Dis-
trict was included in Sec. 7.27.1.a, consideration should be given to 
the addition of Sec. 4 of the proposed ordinance and the renumber-
ing of  subsequent sections. 



Page 9 CZ #19-02 
 

facility that converts sunlight into electricity, whether by photovoltaics (PV) or various 

experimental solar technologies, for the primary purpose of wholesale or retail sales of 

generated electricity. 

b. SMALL SOLAR ENERGY FACILITY. Any photovoltaic or solar hot water devices 

greater than eight (8) square feet that are accessory to, and incorporated into the develop-

ment of an authorized use of the property, and which are designed for the purpose of re-

ducing or meeting on-site energy needs. 

c. PHOTOVOLTAICS (PV). A technology that converts light directly into electricity.  

d. POWER SWITCHYARD. The structure needed to tie the solar energy facility to electric 

transmission lines. 

e. MEDIUM VOLTAGE CABLE. Lines which provide electricity to homes. 

. . . 

Section 56. Severability 

If any section, subsection, subparagraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Ordinance is for any 

reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 

deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the 

remaining portions of this ordinance. 

Section 67. Repeal 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are repealed. 

Section 78. Effective Date 

This ordinance shall take effect seven days after publication as provided by law.  

CZC Staff Recommendation – Based upon this analysis, staff ad-
vises the Planning Commission to recommend APPROVAL WITH 
COMMENTS of the proposed text amendment to the Riga Township 
Board after a new public hearing is held by the Riga Township Plan-
ning Commission. 

 

Recommended Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL WITH 

COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 





RIGA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION  January 7, 2019 
 

1 

 

January 7, 2019 

 

Meeting open: 7:14 pm by Vice-chairman Jaffee 

 

Roll call was taken and members were present as noted: 

   B. Bowman (via telecom)  D. Gilliland    

   K. Goetz    T. Jaffee     

    

Member(s) absent: 

   R. Karg 

    

Registered public guest present (and township of residence):   

Dianna Raine  Riga 

Kaye Bowman (via telecom) Riga 

 

Item #1: Reports were presented: 

 

A. Minutes From Last Month’s Regular Meeting 

 

1. K. Goetz moved with support from B. Bowman to dispense with the reading of the 

minutes.  All members present supported and motion carried.  B. Bowman moved with 

support from T. Jaffee to approve the minutes as presented.  All members present 

supported and motion carried. 

 

B. Communications: 

 

1. It was shared by email that the park grant was approved.  The grant was $110,000 to be 

divided over 2 years.   

   

C. Zoning administrator’s report. 

 

1. T. Jaffee shared the zoning administrator’s report of inspections and permits. 

 

Item #2: Public Request on Zoning Issues:  

 

A. None was requested. 

 

Item #3: Old Business 

 

A.  Continued work on Solar Energy in Township 

  

1. K. Goetz moved with support from B. Bowman to approve the draft copy of the solar 

ordinance for development by township attorney, Leslie Dickinson, into ordinance for 

Township Board approval.  Roll call vote was taken: 

  K. Goetz  Yes 

  B. Bowman  Yes 

  D. Gilliland  Yes 

  T. Jaffee  Yes 

The motion was approved unanimously.  

 

gbauman
Highlight



RIGA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION  January 7, 2019 
 

2 

 

2. B. Bowman moved with support from D. Gilliland to send the draft to Region 2 for 

review and comment.  All members present supported and motion carried. 

 

B. Dvorsky’s Pond Follow up 

 

1. K. Goetz shared that the Township Board sent communication to Dvorsky’s. 

 

Item #4: Public Comment 

 

A. There was no public comment. 

 

Item #5: New Business 

 

A. Property at 12194 Van Buren 

 

1. It was noted there was an incomplete building permit on the property because it was 

never finaled because of a stop work on the stair construction. 

  

2. The planning commission recommended that the Township Board notify the realtor 

regarding the open permit issue. 

 

B. Planning Commission Meeting Schedule for 2019 

 

1. K. Goetz moved with support from D.  Gilliland to approve the propose schedule with 

modification.  Schedule will be posted on the website and at the Township Hall. 

 

C.  Current term limits 

 

1. K. Goetz and B. Bowman’s terms were up at the end of 2018 and were re-appointed by 

the Township Board.  R. Karg and D. Gilliland’s terms will be up at the end of 2019.  T. 

Jaffee’s term will continue to the end of 2020. 

 

D. Attendance 

 

1. D. Gilliland shared that the Planning Commission members’ attendance at meetings, 

continuing education events, and fact finding trips and tours were provided to the 

Township Board for approval at their January meeting. 

 

Item #6: Public Comment 

 

A. No public comment.  

 

Item #7: Open Items 

 

A. The following item(s) are open: 

 

1. Solar Ordinance 

  



RIGA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION  January 7, 2019 
 

3 

 

 

Item #8: Options for Goals for 2018 will be reviewed next month: 

 

A.  Buffer zone requirements G.  Trailer Park Zoning District 

B.  Residential District H.  Define pets 

C.  Light Ordinance I.    Evaluate Sign Ordinance 

D.  Review ZBA Application/Decision forms J.    Bio-Solids Ordinance 

E.  Odor Ordinance  K.   Master Plan Amendment (2021) 

F.  R.A. District Boundaries   

 

T. Jaffee noted that the next regular meeting will be Monday, February 4, 2019 at 7:00 pm.  Being no 

other business, Vice-chairman Jaffee entertained a motion to adjourn.  D. Gilliland moved to adjourn and 

K. Goetz seconded the motion.  All members present supported the motion.  Vice-chairman Jaffee 

adjourned the meeting at 8:32 pm. 



RIGA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION  February 4, 2019 
 

1 

 

February 4, 2019 

 

Meeting open: 7:02 pm by Chairman Karg 

 

Roll call was taken and members were present as noted: 

   B. Bowman (via telecom)  D. Gilliland    

   K. Goetz    T. Jaffee 

   R. Karg     

    

Member(s) absent: 

   None 

    

Registered public guest present (and township of residence):   

Todd Roach  Summerfield 

Zebulun J. Waterbury Riga 

Leann Mattek  Riga 

Dan Schwyn  Riga 

 

Item #1: Reports were presented: 

 

A. Minutes From Last Month’s Regular Meeting 

 

1. T. Jaffee moved with support from B. Bowman to dispense with the reading of the 

minutes.  All members present supported and motion carried.  K. Goetz moved with 

support from T. Jaffee to approve the minutes as corrected.  All members present 

supported and motion carried. 

 

B. Communications: 

 

1. The planning commission was provided with an updated version of the proposed Solar 

Ordinance.   

   

C. Zoning administrator’s report. 

 

1. R. Karg presented the zoning administrator’s report at a later date. 

 

Item #2: Public Request on Zoning Issues:  

 

A. Waterbury Property Split 

 

1. Zeb Waterbury was interested in splitting 1.3 acres from the family’s 3 acres.  The 

planning commission suggested the proposed 1.3 acre property would be too small to 

meet the spacing requirements for a well and a leach field.  Planning Commission 

members suggested alternate sites to review.  

 

B. Mattek Property Split 

 

1. Luann Mattek was interested in splitting off a lot with 306’ of frontage and over 49,000 

sf from the family’s 30.3 acres.  The smaller split will have two existing houses on it.  

Planning Commission members noted that the split meets the criteria of the zoning 

ordinance.  



RIGA TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION  February 4, 2019 
 

2 

 

 

 

Item #3: Old Business 

 

A.  Continued work on Solar Energy in Township 

  

1. K. Goetz moved with support from T. Jaffee to send the Version 11 of the Solar 

Ordinance to Region 2 for their comments.  All members present supported and motion 

carried.    

 

Item #4: Public Comment 

 

A. Dan Schwyn shared that Jackson College will have a solar test site with bi-facial panels. 

 

Item #5: New Business 

 

A. Election of Planning Commission Officers 

 

1. K. Goetz moved with support from T. Jaffee that the officers remain as they are.  All 

present officers confirmed retaining their position.  All members present supported and 

motion carried. 

 

Item #6: Public Comment 

 

A. It was shared that the Township has hired an engineering company for the park design.  They 

are doing a presentation on March 5 at 6:00 pm.  

 

B. The Lenawee County Road Commission will be working on roads in the Township. 

 

Item #7: Open Items 

 

A. The following item(s) are open: 

 

1. Solar Ordinance 

 

Item #8: Options for Goals for 2018 will be reviewed next month: 

 

A.  Buffer zone requirements G.  Trailer Park Zoning District 

B.  Residential District H.  Define pets 

C.  Light Ordinance I.    Evaluate Sign Ordinance 

D.  Review ZBA Application/Decision forms J.    Bio-Solids Ordinance 

E.  Odor Ordinance  K.   Master Plan Amendment (2021) 

F.  R.A. District Boundaries   

 

Chairman Karg noted that the next regular meeting will be Monday, March 4, 2019 at 7:00 pm.  Being no 

other business, Chairman Karg entertained a motion to adjourn.  D. Gilliland moved to adjourn and K. 

Goetz seconded the motion.  All members present supported the motion.  Chairman Karg adjourned the 

meeting at 9:24 pm. 

gbauman
Highlight



This page is intentionally blank. 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-05 

 Applicant(s): Joseph and Erin Ladd 
12451 S. Meridian Road 
Waldron, MI 49288 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The subject property is located in Section 30 of Medina Twp. (T8S,R1E), on the east side 
of Meridian Road, south of Ridgeville Road (see Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: The subject property has an area of approximately 41.7 acres (41.7 acres in GIS). Ap-
proximately 35 acres are in cultivation for cash crops (according to the applicants) with 
approximately 2 acres of pasture/harvested grassland and 4 acres in the other category. 
There are 7 buildings (according to the applicants): a residence (1), a barn (1), a tool 
shed (1), poultry houses (2), and sheds (2) (see Maps 3a & 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject property at the 
edge of an area recommended for ‘Agricultural’ uses (see Map 2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #15: ‘2 or more persons having a joint or common interest in the land’ 
should be checked off. 

 Question #16: The acreages listed in (d), (e), and (f) do not add up to the acre-
ages listed in (c) and the total number of buildings was not listed in (g). Please 
note that the ‘chicken houses’ do not show up on the aerial photography and 
may be located in the 35 acres designated for cash crops (see the Google photo 
below). Should ‘chickens/poultry’ also be listed as an ‘agricultural enterprise’? 
There may also be a discrepancy in the number of buildings. Finally, the appli-
cant may wish to consider separating the residence from the application in or-
der to make it easier to sell it separately in the future (especially given the pro-
posed 90-year term). 

 

 Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commission to rec-
ommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application (i.e., if the er-
rors/omissions are addressed) to the Medina Township Board. 



Page 2 FA | #19-06 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-06 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 



































This page is intentionally blank. 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-06 

 Applicant(s): Generation Farms, Inc. 
4696 E. Ridgeville Road 
Blissfield, MI 49228 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The subject property is located in Section 18 of Ogden Twp. (T8S,R4E), at the 
northeast corner of the intersection of Treat Highway and Weston Road (see 
Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: The subject property has an area of approximately 156 acres (155.014 acres in 
GIS). Approximately 155 acres are in cultivation for cash crops with approxi-
mately 1 acre in the other category. There are no buildings (see Maps 3a & 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject property 
in an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see Map 2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #12: It is not indicated if the mineral rights (owned by the ap-
plicant) are leased or not. 

 Question #16: The total number of buildings is not listed as 0, although 
‘no buildings’ is stated under ‘other’. 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application 
(i.e., if the errors/omissions are addressed) to the Lenawee County Board. 

  



Page 2 FA | #19-06 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-06 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 























This page is intentionally blank. 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-07 

 Applicant(s): Thomas and Elaine Korican 
7071 Centennial Road 
Tecumseh, MI 49286 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The subject property is located in Section 7 of Ridgeway Twp. (T6S,R5E), on the 
south side of Centennial Road, west of Ridge Highway (see Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: Approximately 106 acres are in cultivation for cash crops, according to the appli-
cant, with approximately 8 acres in the other category. There are no buildings 
(see Maps 3a & 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject property 
at the edge of an area recommended for ‘Agricultural’ uses (see Map 2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #15: ‘2 or more persons having a joint of common interest in 
the land’ should be checked since two applicants are listed under Ques-
tion #1 and both Thomas and Elaine Korican signed the application. 

 Question #16b: The total acreage for the property is not listed. 

 Question #16g: The total number of buildings is listed as 0, but aerial 
photography indicates the possible presence of a building in the north-
west corner of the property. 

 Question #17: Since the property is more than 40 acres in area, it was 
unnecessary to provide the annual income per acre. 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application 
(i.e., if the errors/omissions are addressed) to the Ridgeway Township Board. 

  



Page 2 FA | #19-07 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-07 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 





















 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-08 

 Applicant(s): Thomas and Elaine Korican 
7071 Centennial Road 
Tecumseh, MI 49286 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The landlocked subject property is located in Section 10 of Ridgeway Twp. (T6S, 
R5E), east of Britton Highway and north of Pocklington Road (see Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: Approximately 20 acres are in cultivation for cash crops, according to the appli-
cant. The average income per acre is $400, more than the $200 minimum. There 
are no buildings (see Maps 3a & 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject property 
at the edge of an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see Map 
2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #15: ‘2 or more persons having a joint of common interest in 
the land’ should be checked since two applicants are listed under Ques-
tion #1 and both Thomas and Elaine Korican signed the application. 

This application pertains to one of five contiguous properties which could be 
grouped under a single application (see #FA19-08, #FA19-09, #FA19-10, and 
#FA19-11). 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application 
(i.e., if the errors/omissions are addressed) to the Ridgeway Township Board. 

  



Page 2 FA | #19-08 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-08 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 

























 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-09 

 Applicant(s): Thomas and Elaine Korican 
7071 Centennial Road 
Tecumseh, MI 49286 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The subject property is located in Section 10 of Ridgeway Twp. (T6S,R5E) on the 
east side of Britton Highway, north of Pocklington Road (see Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: Approximately 60 acres are in cultivation for cash crops, according to the appli-
cant. There is 1 barn (see Maps 3a & 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject property 
in an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see Map 2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #15: ‘2 or more persons having a joint of common interest in 
the land’ should be checked since two applicants are listed under Ques-
tion #1 and both Thomas and Elaine Korican signed the application. 

 Question #17: Since the property is more than 40 acres in area, it was 
unnecessary to provide the annual income per acre. 

This application pertains to one of five contiguous properties which could be 
grouped under a single application (see #FA19-08, #FA19-09, #FA19-10, and 
#FA19-11). 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application 
(i.e., if the errors/omissions are addressed) to the Ridgeway Township Board. 

  



Page 2 FA | #19-09 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-09 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 

























 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-10 

 Applicant(s): Thomas and Elaine Korican 
7071 Centennial Road 
Tecumseh, MI 49286 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The subject property is located in Section 9 of Ridgeway Twp. (T6S,R5E), in the 
northwest corner of the intersection of Britton Highway and Pocklington Road 
(see Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: Approximately 115 acres are in cultivation for cash crops, according to the appli-
cant, and approximately 5 acres are in the other category. There are currently 
no buildings, according to the applicant, although aerial photography does indi-
cate the past presence of buildings on the north side of the property (see Maps 
3a & 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the subject property 
at the edge of an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see Map 
2). 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #15: ‘2 or more persons having a joint of common interest in 
the land’ should be checked since two applicants are listed under Ques-
tion #1 and both Thomas and Elaine Korican signed the application. 

 Question #17: Since the property is more than 40 acres in area, it was 
unnecessary to provide the annual income per acre. 

This application pertains to one of five contiguous properties which could be 
grouped under a single application (see #FA19-08, #FA19-09, #FA19-10, and 
#FA19-11). 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application 
(i.e., if the errors/omissions are addressed) to the Ridgeway Township Board. 

  



Page 2 FA | #19-10 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-10 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 



















This page is intentionally blank. 



 
 

Lenawee County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 

PA 116 FARMLAND AGREEMENT | FA #19-11 

 Applicant(s): Thomas and Elaine Korican 
7071 Centennial Road 
Tecumseh, MI 49286 

 Meeting Date: March 21, 2019 

 Location: The subject properties are located in Section 10 of Ridgeway Twp. (T6S,R5E), in 
the southwest corner of the intersection of Britton Highway (Main Street) and 
Centennial Road (see Maps 1a & 1b). 

 Description: Approximately 75 acres are in cultivation for cash crops, according to the appli-
cant. There are currently no buildings, according to the applicant (see Maps 3a 
& 3b). 

 Term: 90 years is the proposed term. 

 Future Land Use: The Lenawee County Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the northern subject 
property partially in an area recommended for ‘Intensive Development’ and 
partially in an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricultural’ uses (see Map 2). 
The southern subject property is in an area recommended for ‘Intensive Agricul-
tural’ uses 

 Staff Comments: The application contains various errors/omissions which need to be addressed: 

 Question #15: ‘2 or more persons having a joint of common interest in 
the land’ should be checked since two applicants are listed under Ques-
tion #1 and both Thomas and Elaine Korican signed the application. 

 Question #17: Since the property is more than 40 acres in area, it was 
unnecessary to provide the annual income per acre. 

This application pertains to two of five contiguous properties which could be 
grouped under a single application (see #FA19-08, #FA19-09, #FA19-10, and 
#FA19-11). 

Staff Advisement: Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Lenawee County Planning Commis-
sion to recommend APPROVAL WITH COMMENTS of the PA 116 application 
(i.e., if the errors/omissions are addressed) to the Ridgeway Township Board. 

  



Page 2 FA | #19-11 
 

Maps 1a & 1b 
Location Maps 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 2 
County Future Land Use Map 

 



Page 3 FA | #19-11 
 

Maps 3a 
Aerial Photograph 

 

Map 3b 
Aerial Photograph 

 
 






















